ERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

III. Issues Presented for Review

1. Consistent with *Daugert v. Pappas*, how does a legal malpractice victim prove causation in a legal malpractice action?

2. Under what circumstances does a legal malpractice victim's (allegedly) negligent mitigation efforts constitute a superseding cause that cuts off the liability of a negligent attorney?

3. Must the client/victim of legal malpractice oppose every motion and appeal every adverse ruling after the attorney/tortfeasor withdraws, regardless of whether the client would have succeeded with those mitigation efforts?

IV. Statement of the Case

A. Background Facts

Haitham Joudeh entered into a consumer loan agreement with Spokane Firefighters Credit Union. CP 469 ¶3.0; CP 490 ¶1.7. The Credit Union subsequently pursued a non-judicial repossession of the truck. CP 470 ¶3.1; CP 491 ¶1.8. The Credit Union retained Auto Trackers and Recovery ("Auto Trackers") to repossess the truck. CP 469 ¶3.2; CP 491¶1.9. Auto Trackers, in turn, retained Joshua Strickland of Strickland Recovery, LLC to assist in the repossession. CP 469 ¶3.3; CP 490 ¶1.10. See further, CP 705-706 (pp. 45:14-46:16). Matthew Mayo and Trisha Matthews also participated. *Id*. ¹

On August 19, 2010, Haitham was traveling in the pickup truck in Pierce County, with his minor son, when he was accosted by Mayo and Matthews (in one vehicle) and Strickland in a large tow-truck, threatening to collide with it. CP 469 ¶3.4; CP 491 ¶1.11; see further, CP 868-882, 900-907. This led to a high speed chase over 30 city blocks, which ended when Mayo and Matthews blocked Plaintiff's truck, and Strickland rearended it, pushing it into the vehicle in which Mayo and Matthews were driving. *Id.* The police arrested Mayo and Strickland on charges of reckless driving. CP 470 ¶3.8; CP 492.

Haitham was seriously injured. *E.g.*, CP 628-629. His medical expenses totaled approximately \$70,000. CP 630-631, 656-659.

The Strickland defendants had \$1MM of liability insurance coverage for Mr. Joudeh's claims. CP 748, 803-804. Auto Trackers, Mayo and Matthews also had \$1MM of liability insurance coverage, and

¹ A question arose in the Underlying tort case about whether Mayo and Matthews were "employees" of Auto Trackers. For purposes of this appeal, that distinction makes no difference because Auto Trackers had a \$1MM liability policy that provided coverage regardless of whether they were "employees." CP 688, 695, 749, 814-816, 829-840.

Mayo and Matthews had an additional \$100,000 of coverage through their individual policy. *Id.*; CP 688, 695, 749, 814-818, 829-839.² They were therefore "solvent." CP 563-564 ¶20-21.

Haitham first met with Mr. Cochran on August 26, 2010, and retained the Pfau Cochran law firm on October 25, 2010. CP 471 ¶3.9; CP 492 ¶1.14. Mr. Joudeh's fee agreement with Cochran provides, in part, that "[a]t their sole discretion, Attorneys will advance payment of Costs." CP 375. The fee agreement further provides that "Attorneys will obtain Client's informed consent prior to any settlement arising from this agreement." CP 376. Mr. Cochran assured Haitham that he and his law firm would advance the necessary litigation expenses. CP 408 (23:4-6), 530 ¶3. Cochran advanced Mr. Joudeh's litigation expenses until January 30, 2012 (when a disagreement arose over Mr. Cochran's unauthorized settlement offer). CP 471 ¶¶3.9-3.10; CP 492 ¶1.15.

From the outset of representation, Haitham had wanted to take his case to trial. *E.g.*, 531 ¶6, 613-617 (Ans. to 'Rog. no. 7), and 680 (113:12-14). Mediation of the underlying matter was scheduled on Monday, January 30, 2012. CP 473 ¶3.17; CP 494 ¶1.22. On January 24, 2012, Haitham wrote to Mr. Cochran, authorizing settlement within a range of \$2,500,000 to \$3,000,000. *Id.* Mr. Cochran nevertheless submitted a

² Mr. Cochran erroneously told Mr. Joudeh that Mayo and Matthews's policy limits were only \$100,000. CP 215; CP 615 (Ans. to 'Rog. no. 7).

mediation brief on Friday, January 27, 2012, in which he communicated an opening settlement offer in the amount of \$552,500. CP 473 ¶3.18; CP 494 ¶1.23; CP 655-659. Mr. Cochran had *not* allowed Haitham an opportunity to see the mediation brief prior to its submission, and Haitham had *not* authorized that settlement offer. CP 530-531 ¶¶4-5. Mr. Joudeh's expert, Philip Cutler, opined that Mr. Cochran breached the standard of care and his fiduciary duties, by making unauthorized settlement offers, including this one. CP564-568.

During and immediately after mediation of the Underlying Matter on January 30, 2012, Mr. Cochran changed his position about advancing costs because, in his words, Mr. Joudeh had "rejected my [settlement] advice;" he thereupon demanded that Mr. Joudeh deposit \$10,000 and pay all future litigation expenses. CP 408-412 (pp. 21:17-25:13, 26:17-28:13, 29:1-21, 92:15-94:9), CP 414, 416-417, 419. See further, CP 473-476 \mathbb{NI} 3.17-3.27; CP 494-495 \mathbb{I} 1.27. Mr. Cochran also decided that he must settle Mr. Joudeh's case and not take it to trial regardless of Mr. Joudeh's desire to do so. *E.g.*, CP 680 (113:4-114:4). Mr. Cochran demanded prepayment of costs, he said, because he was "no longer interested in carrying the loan for you on this case" and had "no interest in losing [his] money."³ CP 409 (27:16-28:12); CP 414, 416-417, 419. Mr. Cutler opines that Mr. Cochran's demand that Haitham deposit \$10,000 and pay litigation expenses breached Mr. Cochran's fiduciary duties to Haitham. CP 568-569. Mr. Cochran himself confirmed that he has used this same form fee agreement and improper practice with other "unreasonable" clients. CP 409 (25:3-13), CP 412 (94:4-9).

On February 10, 2012, Mr. Cochran offered to "settle the claims against Jack [Strickland's attorney] for \$300,000." CP 660-662. Haitham had not authorized that offer. CP 533 ¶9. On February 13, 2012, Mr. Cochran sent Haitham an email stating that the Strickland defendants had offered to settle for \$100,000. CP 664-666. He wrote that this \$100,000 offer was "a good offer" and "[i]f we can get them to \$150,000, the offer should be accepted." *Id.* Mr. Joudeh rejected Mr. Cochran's advice to accept \$150,000. CP 533 ¶8. Mr. Cochran assured Mr. Joudeh that he could settle with only the Strickland defendants without endangering his claims against the remaining defendants. CP 531-532 ¶6; CP 613-617

³ On March 26, 2012, Mr. Cochran demanded that Mr. Joudeh authorize a \$175,000 settlement offer to the Strickland defendants "or [send] a check for costs." CP 673-677.

(Ans. to 'Rog. no. 7). 4

Mr. Cochran subsequently issued another unauthorized settlement offer to the Strickland defendants in the amount of \$250,000 on March 13 and, when Strickland did not accept it, went further and offered that "we can come off \$250,000" on March 14, 2012. CP 668. Mr. Joudeh had not authorized those offers. CP 633-634 ¶¶10-11. Mr. Cutler opines that Mr. Cochran's unauthorized settlement offers again breached the standard of care and his fiduciary duties to Haitham. CP 564-568. Based on Mr. Cochran's threats relative to litigation expenses, as well as his assurances that Haitham's claims against the remaining defendants would *not* be affected, Mr. Joudeh finally relented and agreed to a \$250,000 settlement with the Strickland defendants. CP 86, 216.

Mr. Cochran next negotiated a \$100,000 settlement with Mayo and Matthews. *Id.* As with the Strickland settlement, Mr. Cochran assured Haitham that this settlement would not endanger his claims against the Credit Union and Auto Trackers. CP 532-533 ¶7. Haitham would not have authorized settlement with Mayo and Matthews if Mr.

⁴ E.g., in a March 26, 2012 email, Mr. Cochran told Haitham "Let's get Strickland in now and that will enable us to keep pounding everyone else." CP 673, 534 ¶12.

Cochran had explained the risks posed by the partial settlement. Id.

Mr. Cochran next tried to negotiate with Auto Trackers and the Credit Union; however, Mr. Joudeh refused to consider the settlement amounts Mr. Cochran recommended. CP 616-617. Mr. Cochran and his law firm then withdrew from representation effective October 31, 2012 because Haitham would not accept their settlement recommendations. CP 259-262, 265-267; CP 682. Mr. Joudeh contacted an estimated 50 personal injury law firms in the area, 23 of which are identified by name in Mr. Joudeh's discovery responses. CP 534-535 ¶13; CP 620-624, 626-627 (Ans. to 'Rog. nos. 10, 13). At least two of those attorneys called Mr. Cochran for information. CP 680 (115:11-116:14). Haitham could not get any attorney to represent him as replacement counsel. CP 627 (Ans. to 'Rog. no. 13).

The remaining defendants (Auto Trackers and the Credit Union) thereafter moved for summary judgment, each successfully arguing that Haitham's releases of the Strickland defendants, and Mayo and Matthews, effectively released them as well. CP 684-923.⁵

B. Proceedings in the Lower Courts

Haitham's Complaint alleged a cause of action for legal

malpractice and other causes of action. CP 13-16.

Cochran moved for summary judgment. CP 82. Haitham opposed

Cochran's motion. CP 504. Citing Cochran's opening motion [CP

82-83], Haitham pointed out that Cochran was limited to his

four (4) initial summary judgment "showings" [CP 505] that:

Defendants' motion for summary judgment purports to make four (4) summary judgment showings: (1) plaintiff cannot prove a breach of the standard of care because he "does not possess any expert testimony;" (2) plaintiff cannot prove proximate cause because he "failed to challenge or appeal the adverse ruling in the underlying personal-injury action;" (3) plaintiff cannot prove a breach of contract because "Mr. Cochran in fact obtained plaintiff's informed consent," and; (4) the court should "dismiss any such CPA claim as a matter of law."

In Reply, Cochran conceded that "Mr. Cutler's testimony creates

an issue of fact whether Mr. Cochran violated the standard of care or

fiduciary duties to plaintiff." CP 924.

The trial court granted summary judgment dismissing Haitham's

Complaint in its entirety [CP 930], holding that Haitham's

⁵ Auto Trackers filed two separate motions, the first sought dismissal of vicarious liability claims and the second seeking dismissal of all remaining claims. CP 684-692, 742-744, 844-848. The Court in that case granted both motions. CP 921-923. The Court of Appeals thus mistakenly referenced counterclaims that were "dismissed for failure to prosecute" [Op., p. 1], considering that Haitham was the *plaintiff* in the underlying matter and his remaining claims in the Underlying Matter were dismissed on summary judgment and *not* due to failure to prosecute.

failure to "challenge or appeal the adverse ruling[s] in the underlying personal injury action...defeats the plaintiff's proof of proximate cause here, period....". App. Op., p. 5.

On August 24, 2015, the Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Mr. Joudeh's legal malpractice, breach of contract, and Consumer Protection Act claims, but reversed and remanded his breach of fiduciary duty claims for trial. The Court held, *inter alia*, that "[h]ere, Joudeh's own conduct in failing to appear or oppose the motions for summary judgment caused any loss he sustained." Op., p. 11. Haitham timely filed motions for reconsideration and publication. On October 12, 2015, the Court of Appeals granted his motion for reconsideration in part by deleting its erroneous characterization of Haitham's position. Appendix B. The Court denied publication. Joudeh timely petitions this Court.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Lower Court Decision Conflicts with *Daugert v*. *Pappas* Because Victims of Legal Malpractice Prove Causation Through Inferences Drawn from Evidence in the Trial-Within-The-Trial. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

The Court of Appeals concluded that Haitham "provided no evidence that he could have recovered more for his vicarious liability claims through settlement or trial." Op., p. 10. However, victims of legal malpractice prove causation through inferences drawn by the finder of fact, and Haitham introduced ample evidence from which a finder of fact could conclude that he would have recovered more.

Proximate cause in a legal malpractice case requires a "trialwithin-a-trial" or "case-within-a-case" to determine whether the client would have fared better but for the lawyer's negligence. *Daugert v. Pappas*, 104 Wn.2d 254, 257-258, 704 P.2d 600 (1985) explains:

> [W]hen an attorney makes an error during a trial, the causation issue in the subsequent malpractice action is relatively straightforward. The trial court hearing the malpractice claim merely retries, or tries for the first time, the client's cause of action which the client asserts was lost or compromised by the attorney's negligence, and the trier of fact decides whether the client would have fared better but for such mishandling. [Citation omitted]. In such a case it is appropriate to allow the trier of fact to decide proximate cause. In effect, the second trier of fact will be asked to decide what a reasonable jury or fact finder would have done but for the attorney's negligence. Thus, it is obvious that in most legal malpractice actions, the jury should decide the issue of cause in fact. (Emphasis added).

When the fact finder in a legal malpractice case must determine

what would have occurred but for the defendants' negligence, the

plaintiff establishes proximate cause through inferences drawn by the

fact finder. Daugert, supra, 104 Wn.2d at 257-8; Bishop v. Jefferson Title

Co., 107 Wn. App. 833, 848-9, 28 P.3d 802 (2001)(reversing summary

judgment in legal malpractice case); Hetzel v. Parks, 93 Wn. App. 929,

939-41, 971 P.2d 115 (1999) (reversing dismissal of legal malpractice

case); *Brust v. Newton*, 70 Wn. App. 286, 290-94, 852 P.2d 1092 (1993); *Clark Cnty. Fire Dist. No. 5 v. Bullivant Houser Bailey, P.C.*, 180 Wn. App. 689 ¶44, 324 P.3d 743, 754 (2014) (summary judgment reversed; Court "inferred that the [plaintiff's] experts believed that no reasonable prudent attorney would have agreed with [defendant's] evaluation based on their opinions that Matson breached the standard of care").

In contrast to medical malpractice cases in which expert testimony is critical to proving what would have occurred but for the malpractice, expert testimony as to what a judge, jury or tribunal would have decided in the underlying matter is *not* admissible.⁶ *E.g.*, 4 Mallen & Smith, *Legal Malpractice* § 37:138, pp. 1812-1818 and §37:151, pp. 1849-1855 (2015 ed.); *Hickey v. Scott*, 796 F. Supp.2d 1, 5-6 (D.D.C. 2011)(excluding predictions of what some other fact finder would have concluded and evaluations of the legal merits of the underlying claims, which would be impermissible legal opinion), *citing, Whitley v. Chamouris*, 265 Va. 9, 574 S.E. 2d 251 (Va. 2003)("No witness can predict the decision of a jury and, therefore, the former could not be the subject of expert testimony").

Here, Haitham introduced ample evidence from which the finder of fact could **infer** that he could have recovered "more" but for Cochran's

⁶ The Court of Appeals appears to have approved expert testimony as to the result of the underlying matter. Op., pp. 10-11. This Court should reject that erroneous suggestion.

breaches. Indeed, Respondents themselves acknowledged that even "[a]fter the initial settlements, Auto Trackers and SFCU both continued to make large settlement offers." Resp. Br., p. 6, citing CP 254, 257. Mr. Joudeh also introduced extensive evidence concerning the nature of his injuries, the amount of his medical bills (as calculated by Cochran), and the damages he claims in this lawsuit. App. Br., pp. 9-10, citing CP 628-629, 630-631, 656-659, and; CP 618-619 (Ans. to 'Rog. no. 9 re: damages). The Court of Appeals opinion thus conflicts with *Daubert v*. *Pappas* and similar cases which establish the trial-within-the-trial as the means for determining whether the client would have recovered more.

> B. The Lower Court Theory of Post-Malpractice Superseding Cause by Replacement Counsel (or the *Pro* Se Client) Conflicts with This Court's Decisions in McCoy and Maltman. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

Both the Court of Appeals [Op., p. 11] and the trial court [CP 933, 967] concluded, as a matter of law, that "it was Joudeh's failure to oppose the motions for summary judgment (or to appeal the adverse rulings) that broke any chain of causation based on Cochran's alleged misconduct." Significantly, *neither* lower court ever determined whether Haitham would have won those motions if he had opposed and/or appealed them. The lower court conclusions thus conflict with fundamental Washington concepts of superseding cause within our system of comparative fault.

Cochran's Answer alleged the affirmative defense of Haitham's negligence. CP 501 ¶2.2 ("caused in whole or in part"). The defendant, *not* plaintiff, carries the burden of proof on affirmative defenses involving allocation of fault. *E.g.*, 16 DeWolf and Allen, *Wash*. *Tort Law and Prac.* §13.7 (updated through 9/2014). See further, *Schmidt v. Coogan*, 181 Wn.2d 661 ¶¶9-10, 225 P.3d 424 (2014). Cochran thus had the burden of proving their affirmative defense of a superseding cause.

However, since the advent of comparative fault, the original negligent actor (*i.e.*, Cochran) remains liable even though a third person (*e.g.*, replacement counsel or the client acting *pro se*) negligently fails to take affirmative action which would have prevented the harm if the third person's conduct is reasonably foreseeable. *McCoy v. American Suzuki Motor Corp.*, 136 Wn.2d 350, 358, 961 P.2d 952 (1998); Cline v. Watkins, 66 Cal. App.3d 174, 178-180, 135 Cal. Rptr. 838 (1977)(legal malpractice case). Accord, *Maltman v. Sauer*, 84 Wn.2d 975, 982, 530 P.2d 254 (1975); 16 DeWolf & Allen, *Wash. Prac. Tort Law and Prac.* §5.15 and n. 9 (4th ed. 9/2014); 1 *Mallen & Smith, supra* §8.25, pp. 1039-1045 (2015 ed.). An independent intervening act constitutes a superseding cause that relieves the actor of liability for his negligence *only* if the intervening act is highly unusual or extraordinary and hence not reasonably foreseeable. 16 *Wash. Prac. supra* §5.15 and n. 14. Accord, *Cline, supra*, 66 Cal.

14

App.3d at 178.⁷

Here, regardless of what Mr. Joudeh could or should have done, Mr. Cochran should reasonably have foreseen that Mr. Joudeh would be unable to retain replacement counsel after Cochran had settled for the "easy money," and that Joudeh, acting *pro se*, would be unable to successfully defend the remaining defendants' summary judgment motions. The Court of Appeals thus imposed an erroneous standard relative to circumstances under which post-malpractice conduct completely bars a legal malpractice claim by the client. The Court of Appeals decision thus conflicts with *McCoy* and *Maltman*, and warrants review. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4).

C. The Court of Appeals Imposed a New, Far-Reaching Duty of Mitigation that Conflicts with *City of Seattle* v. *Blume* and *Flint v. Hart.* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (4).

Until now, Washington has never required that victims of legal

malpractice must oppose and appeal every adverse post-malpractice

motion and decision-or have their legal malpractice claims forever

⁷ Whether a particular act is "foreseeable" and whether it constitutes a "superseding cause" or merely a "concurrent cause" constitutes an issue for the jury. *E.g., Travis v. Bohannon,* 128 Wn. App. 231, 242, 115 P.3d 342 (2005); *McCoy, supra,* 136 Wn.2d at 358; 16 Wash. Prac., supra §5.15 and n. 4.

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