RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Dec 03, 2015, 4:36 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 92537-2

F-MAI

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Court of Appeals Case No. 72533-5-I

### HAITHAM JOUDEH,

Appellant,

v.

PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS AMALA, PLLC, a Washington Professional Limited Liability Company d/b/a PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS KOSNOFF, PLLC, DARRELL L. COCHRAN, Individually and on behalf of the Marital Community comprised of DARRELL L. COCHRAN and JANE DOE COCHRAN,

Respondents.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffrey P. Downer, WSBA No. 12625 Rosemary J. Moore, WSBA No. 28650 Spencer Gheen, WSBA No. 43343 Of Attorneys for Respondents

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

### V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Court should deny review because Mr. Joudeh has failed to establish any of the criteria for review under RAP 13.4. The unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals follows established Supreme Court precedent in affirming dismissal of Mr. Joudeh's claims of legal malpractice, breach of contract, and breach of the CPA, because Mr. Joudeh failed to present admissible evidence to rebut Mr. Cochran's showing that Mr. Joudeh lacked evidence of proximate causation. *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals*, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 225-26, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). Absent proximate cause, mitigation or superseding cause are not at issue because Mr. Joudeh failed to meet his burden to produce a material issue of fact as to this essential element. This unpublished

decision follows settled law and therefore is not of substantial public interest. Mr. Joudeh has offered no argument to the contrary.

### VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

# A. Mr. Joudeh fails to establish any basis under RAP 13.4 for this Court to accept review.

Mr. Joudeh's petition for review does not present a proper basis for review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). RAP 13.4(b) provides that the Supreme Court will accept a petition for review only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or

(3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Mr. Joudeh asserts that RAP 13.4(b) (1), (2), and (4) apply here, but the authority he cites do not conflict with the Court of Appeals' ruling; and no public interest exists under these facts. Furthermore, nothing in RAP 13.4 or in Washington law entitles Mr. Joudeh to review by this Court simply because he disagrees with the Court of Appeals' decision:

[I]t is a mistake for a party seeking review to make the perceived injustice the focus of attention in the petition for review. RAP 13.4(b) says nothing in its criteria about correcting isolated instances of injustice. This is because the Supreme Court, in passing upon petitions for review, is not operating as a court of error. Rather, it is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state. ...

The Supreme Court's view in evaluating petitions is global in nature. Consequently, the primary focus of a petition for review should be on why there is a compelling need to have the issue or issues presented decided *generally*. The significance of the issues must be shown to transcend the particular application of the law in question. Each of the four alternative criteria of RAP 13.4(b) supports this view. The court accepts review sparingly, only approximately 10 percent of the time. Failure to show the court the "big picture" will likely diminish the already statistically slim prospects of review.

### Wash. Appellate Prac. Deskbook § 27.11 (1998) (italics in original).

Mr. Joudeh petitions for review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision. However, because that decision is unpublished, it has no precedential value. RCW 2.06.040; State v. Fitzpatrick, 5 Wn. App. 661, 668, 491 P.2d 262 (1971). Unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals will not be considered in appellate courts and should not be considered in the trial courts. Id. They do not become a part of the common law of the State of Washington. "Unpublished opinions ... should not be cited or relied upon in any manner." Skamania County v. Woodall, 104 Wn. App. 525, 536 n.11, 16 P.3d 701, rev. denied 144 Wn.2d 1021, 34 P.3d 1232 (2001) (citing RAP 10.4(h)). In Johnson v. Allstate Ins. Co., 126 Wn. App. 510, 519-20, 108 P. 3d 1273 (2005) the court admonished Allstate for citing unpublished opinions to the trial court in the guise of "non-controlling authority," "We do not consider unpublished opinions in the Court of Appeals, and they should not be considered in the trial court." Id. Therefore, there is no possibility that 5829348.doc

the Court of Appeals' decision creates supposedly bad precedent.

B. After Mr. Cochran showed the absence of proof of proximate cause, Mr. Joudeh failed to meet his burden and produce competent proof that raised an issue of material fact as to that element.

After Mr. Cochran showed the absence of evidence to support proximate cause, Mr. Joudeh failed to meet his burden and produce competent evidence that raised an issue of material fact as to proximate cause, as he was required to do under Washington precedent.

If the moving party shows the absence of a genuine issue of material fact, the non-moving party must set forth facts showing that a genuine issue exists for trial. *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225. A moving defendant bears the initial burden of showing that either (1) the plaintiff lacks competent evidence to support an essential element of his case or (2) there is no genuine issue of material fact. *Guile v. Ballard Comm. Hosp.*, 70 Wn. App. 18, 21-22, 851 P.2d 689 *rev. denied* 122 Wn.2d 1010, 863 P.2d 72 (1993). A defendant may support its motion for summary judgment by merely challenging the sufficiency of the plaintiff's evidence as to any essential element. *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225. If the defendant meets this initial burden, "then the inquiry shifts to the party with the burden of proof at trial, the plaintiff. If, at this point, the plaintiff 'fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial, 'then the trial court should grant the motion." *Id.* 

The plaintiff bears the burden of demonstrating that, "but for" the

5829348,doc

attorney's negligence, the client would have obtained a better result. Daugert v. Pappas, 104 Wn.2d 254, 263, 704 P.2d 600 (1985). This necessarily involves two steps. The first question is whether the client's underlying cause of action was lost or compromised by the attorney's alleged negligence. Shepard Ambulance, Inc. v. Helsell, Fetterman, Martin, Todd & Hokanson, 95 Wn. App. 231, 235–36, 974 P.2d 1275 (1999). The second question is whether the client would have fared better in the absence of the attorney's negligence. Id. Mr. Joudeh failed to produce admissible evidence to answer either question affirmatively:

Mr. Cochran met his burden on summary judgment by producing evidence that Mr. Joudeh's claims against Auto Trackers and SFCU remained viable after Mr. Joudeh had settled with Strickland, Mayo, and Matthews. CP 93, 98, 205-09, 236-37, 242-43, 254, 257, 381-94. He also showed the lack of proof that Mr. Joudeh would have recovered more than the \$350,000 he received but for Mr. Cochran's alleged negligence. CP 86, 104, 249-50. Thus, the burden shifted to Mr. Joudeh to present specific admissible facts raising a genuine issue of material fact. However, Mr. Joudeh failed to do so. He submitted no evidence that Mr. Cochran lost or compromised Mr. Joudeh's claims or that he could have obtained a better outcome in the underlying action. He failed to raise a material issue of fact that (1) he would have obtained more as a whole if he had not settled his claims with Strickland, Mayo and Matthews; and (2) that his claims against SFCU and Auto Trackers were no longer viable after the settlement. Thus, these facts were undisputed for purposes of 5829348.doc

summary judgment. Uncontroverted, relevant facts offered in support of summary judgment are deemed established. *Cent. Wash. Bank v. Mendelson-Zeller, Inc.,* 113 Wn.2d 346, 354, 779 P.2d 697 (1989). Therefore, in accordance with this Court's precedent, the Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court's dismissal of Mr. Joudeh's claims. As the Court of Appeals stated:

... Joudeh's belief that he could have done better absent Cochran's alleged negligence is insufficient to create an issue of material fact for proximate cause. Joudeh offered no expert testimony or any other evidence that, had he been advised of the risks of partial settlement, he would have fared better than the \$350,000 partial settlement.

Joudeh v. PFAU Cochran Vertetis Amala, PLLC, 72533-5-I, 2015 WL 5923961, at \*5 (Oct. 12, 2015) (citing Griswold v. Kilpatrick, 107 Wn. App. 757, 762, 27 P.3d 246 (2001)). Mr. Joudeh claims that Griswold is inapposite because he can testify as to what he would have done but he has no personal knowledge of what other parties would have offered (other than the offers that he rejected) or of what he would have recovered at trial. He produced no support to demonstrate that his claim was worth more than \$350,000 either by expert opinion (and sometimes expert opinion on proximate cause may be required, Geer v. Tonnon, 137 Wn. App. 838, 851, 155 P.3d 163 (2007)) or by other evidence or authority.

Mr. Joudeh argues for the first time on appeal that a fact finder could infer his damages from references to medical expenses and physical symptoms lurking within the record. This argument fails. First, he failed to produce admissible evidence or cite authority linking these symptoms to a specific monetary range or raising an issue of fact that his recoverable damages exceeded \$350,000. Second, conclusory statements such as the damage range in his attorneys' demands are insufficient to oppose summary judgment. *Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound, Inc.*, 110 Wn.2d 355, 359, 753 P.2d 517 (1988). Third, this speaks to damages, not causation. Fourth, the settlement offers that Mr. Cochran recommended he accept do not help Mr. Joudeh because (1) they illustrate the continuing viability of his claims against Auto Truckers and SFCU; and (2) Mr. Joudeh rejected these offers. CP 254, 257. Fifth, Mr. Joudeh did not make this argument in the trial court and may not make it now. *Heg v. Alldredge*, 157 Wn.2d 154, 162, 137 P.3d 9 (2006) (citing RAP 2.5(a).

Mr. Joudeh also failed to show that if he had opposed Auto Trackers' and SFCU's dispositive motions it was inevitable he would have lost. Mr. Joudeh grossly mischaracterizes and oversimplifies the Court of Appeals decision by asserting that it held "in effect" that a legal malpractice plaintiff must "oppose and appeal every adverse ruling in the underlying matter" failing which "regardless of those rulings, then the client's legal malpractice action is forever barred." Petition for Review at 1. This misstates the Court of Appeals' opinion.

Mr. Joudeh presented no legal argument that Auto Traders' and SFCU's motions for summary judgment would have succeeded had he opposed the motions. Mr. Joudeh's petition asserts in a footnote that Auto Traders' and SFCU's summary judgment pleadings are in the record and provide evidence that his remaining claims were not viable. The Court 5829348.doc should not consider this argument, which is made here for the first time. Heg v. Alldredge, 157 Wn.2d at 162. Further, it is not the task of this Court "to comb the record with a view toward constructing arguments for counsel as to what findings are to be assailed and why the evidence does not support these findings." Matter of Estate of Lint, 135 Wn.2d 518, 532, 957 P.2d 755 (1998). Mr. Joudeh asserts, wrongly, that he has met the standard set forth in Nielson v. Eisenhower & Carlson, 100 Wn. App. 584, 594, 999 P.2d 42 (2000) because his remaining claims were dismissed in the underlying action. The Court of Appeals held in Nielson, that the court determines as a matter of law the outcome of an appeal in the underlying case. Id. Because the defendants' appeal would have failed Mr. Nielson could not prove proximate causation. Id. The dismissal of Mr. Joudeh's underlying claims does not determine the outcome here, for three reasons. First, it cannot be concluded that SFCU's and Auto Trackers' dispositive motions would inevitably have been granted, had Mr. Joudeh opposed them, merely because they were granted when he failed to oppose them. Second, the court must determine this *de novo*. Paradise Orchards Gen. P'ship v. Fearing, 122 Wn. App. 507, 515-20, 94 P.3d 372 (2004), rev. denied 153 Wn.2d 1027 (2005). Mr. Joudeh has not offered any legal argument to support his conclusory assertion and to rebut Mr. Cochran's evidence and arguments to the contrary. Third, Mr. Joudeh may not assert collateral estoppel because, *inter alia*, Mr. Cochran was not a party to the summary judgment proceedings, and Mr. Joudeh has not shown that the decision was made on the merits. Id. at 514-15. In 5829348.doc

*Paradise*, the plaintiff-client made a similar argument based on collateral estoppel. The Court of Appeals held that the elements of collateral estoppel were absent, that legal issues had to be determined *de novo*, and that proximate cause was absent because the plaintiff had failed to appeal the earlier court's erroneous ruling. *Id*.

# C. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *McCoy* or *Maltman*.

Mr. Joudeh ignores his failure to meet his burden when he argues wrongly – that this case involves a supposed "tension" between mitigation and superseding cause. The Court should disregard Mr. Joudeh's argument on superseding cause because he failed to raise this in the superior court and therefore may not raise it for the first time on appeal. Heg, 157 Wn.2d at 162. The argument lacks merit for several reasons. First, Mr. Cochran's motion for dismissal was based on Mr. Joudeh's inability to prove proximate cause, not on his affirmative defenses. Second, Mr. Joudeh failed to raise a material issue of fact that Mr. Cochran's alleged misconduct would have proximately caused him damage "but for" Mr. Joudeh's intervening acts. Therefore, Mr. Joudeh's assertion that the original tortfeasor remains liable unless he proves that the intervening acts were a superseding cause is not relevant. Third, the uncontroverted facts showed that Mr. Joudeh's failure to defend SFCU's and Auto Trackers' dispositive motions was the cause in fact of any loss. An "intervening cause is a superseding cause where the intervening act (1) brings about a different type of harm than otherwise would have resulted

from the defendant's conduct, or (2) operates independently of the situation created by the defendant's conduct." 16 Wash. Prac., *Tort Law & Practice* § 5:15 (4th ed. 2013) (citing *Campbell v. ITE Imperial Corp.*, 107 Wn. 2d 807, 813, 733 P.2d 969 (1987)). Both alternatives apply here. Dismissal of Mr. Joudeh's remaining claims was not an inevitable, foreseeable harm consequent upon settlement with Strickland, Mayo, and Matthews. Mr. Joudeh's failure to defend the dispositive motions operated independently of the settlements because his remaining claims were still viable. Fourth, no reasonable person would conclude that it was foreseeable that Mr. Joudeh would fail to defend his claims at summary judgment and fail to retain another lawyer. Dismissal of the remaining claims for lack of any defense is too remote for legal cause to exist. *See Maltman v. Sauer*, 84 Wn.2d 975, 981, 530 P.2d 254 (1975).

# D. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *City of Seattle v. Blume* or *Flint v. Hart.*

Mr. Joudeh's discussion of mitigation is another red herring: Mr. Cochran moved for summary judgment not on the issue of mitigation, but on Mr. Joudeh's inability to prove the *prima facie* elements of his claim. Mr. Joudeh does not reach the issue of mitigation without first meeting his burden of proof as to each element of his claim which he failed to do. *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225; *City of Seattle v. Blume*, 134 Wn.2d 243, 258-60, 947 P.2d 223 (1997). In *Blume*, an action to recover a loan, the Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal of the Blumes' counterclaim under the independent business rule because the Blumes had withdrawn from the permitting process. *Id.* at 259-60. This Court held that the independent business rule was not a bar to recovery and overturned the decision. *Id.* However, the Court did **not** address whether the Blumes could prove causation on traditional principles; thus, it stated:

We are not saying, as a matter of law, that a person's own conduct may not be the sole cause of his or her injuries, thus breaking the chain of causation. The court must decide based on traditional principles of proximate causation whether or not a defendant was the cause of the injuries suffered and whether the duty to mitigate was met.

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